Clinical and Translational Radiation Oncology 3 (2017) 9-15

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Clinical and Translational Radiation Oncology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ctro



CrossMark

Review Article

SEVIE

Organ preservation in rectal cancer – Challenges and future strategies

C. Gani^{a,f,*}, P. Bonomo^{a,b}, K. Zwirner^a, C. Schroeder^c, A. Menegakis^a, C. Rödel^{d,e}, D. Zips^{a,f}

^a Department of Radiation Oncology, University Hospital Tübingen, Eberhard Karls University Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany

^b Radiation Oncology, Azienda Ospedaliero Universitaria Careggi, University of Florence, Florence, Italy

^c Institute of Medical Genetics and Applied Genomics, Medical Faculty and University Hospital, Eberhard Karls University Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany

^d Department of Radiotherapy and Oncology, University of Frankfurt, Frankfurt am Main, Germany

e German Cancer Consortium (DKTK), German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ) Partner Site Frankfurt, Frankfurt am Main, Germany

^f German Cancer Consortium (DKTK), German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ) Partner Site Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 5 February 2017 Accepted 16 February 2017 Available online 23 March 2017

Keywords: Rectal cancer Wait and see Organ preservation Radiochemotherapy Radiotherapy Chemoradiotherapy

ABSTRACT

Neoadjuvant radiochemotherapy with subsequent total mesorectal excision is the standard of care for locally advanced rectal cancer. While this multimodal strategy has decreased local recurrences rates below 5%, long-term morbidities are considerable in terms of urinary, sexual or bowel functioning. At the same time approximately 10–20% of patients have no evidence of residual tumour in their surgical specimen. Pioneering studies from Brazil have suggested that surgery can safely be omitted in carefully selected patients with a clinical complete response after radiochemotherapy. Although confirmatory studies showed similar results, challenges in terms of optimizing radiochemotherapy for organ-preservation, appropriate selection of patients for non-operative management and the safety of this approach remain. The present review will summarize the current data on organ-preservation in rectal cancer and discuss the challenges that need to be addressed in future trials.

Oncology. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

ntroduction
Early data on organ preservation in rectal cancer – two key studies
Challenge I: how low can we put the threshold? 10
Challenge II: strategies to maximize the pathological complete response rate 11
Prolonging the interval between radiochemotherapy and response assessment
Beyond 5-FU: alternative chemotherapy regimens
Heating the tumour – hyperthermia for rectal cancer
Dose escalation
Challenge III: prediction of a pathological complete response
Clinical parameters
Imaging
Novel diagnostic tools to be further investigated
Radiomics
Molecular biomarkers and assessment of intrinsic radiosensitivity
Challenge IV: safety
ummary and perspective
References

* Corresponding author at: Department of Radiation Oncology, Eberhard Karls University Tübingen, Hoppe-Seyler-Str. 3, D-72076 Tübingen, Germany. Fax: +49 7071 29 5026.

E-mail address: cihan.gani@med.uni-tuebingen.de (C. Gani).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ctro.2017.02.002

2405-6308/© 2017 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ireland Ltd on behalf of European Society for Radiotherapy and Oncology. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Introduction

Over the last decades, locally advanced rectal cancer has transitioned from a disease with local failure rates of up to 40–50% [1]. to one with local control rates that have been as high as 98% after three years in recent trials [2]. These impressive results have mainly been achieved through increasingly aggressive therapies in all involved treatment modalities. In surgery, the introduction of total mesorectal excision (TME) has dramatically decreased local recurrence rates [3]. For low lying tumours, extralevatoric abdominoperineal excision has been proposed as an even more radical treatment compared with "standard" abdominoperineal excision [4]. The addition of chemotherapy [5] and the shift of radiochemotherapy from the post- to the preoperative setting have been game-changers further decreasing failure rates [6]. However this excellent oncological outcome comes with a price. For patients with low lying tumours sphincter preservation is not feasible in most cases and a permanent colostomy is required. But even for patients with tumours in the middle rectum long-term morbidities after trimodal therapy are considerable [7,8]. Efforts to identify subgroups of patients who might be candidates for less aggressive treatment without compromising oncological safety are the logical consequence. For this purpose, two major approaches have emerged. One is the omission of radiotherapy based on pretherapeutic magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) defined selection criteria or the selective use of radiotherapy for patients with poor response to induction therapy [9,10]. The second strategy is the omission of surgery in patients with a clinical complete response (cCR) after radiochemotherapy. The present review will discuss the concept and data on organ-preservation with the selective use of surgery in locally advanced rectal cancer and address challenges we are faced with in order to further establish and refine this strategy in the future.

Early data on organ preservation in rectal cancer – two key studies

Data from a single institution in Sao Paolo/Brazil dominated the literature on organ-preservation in rectal cancer for years. In 2004 Habr-Gama et al. reported a retrospective analysis of 71 patients who had achieved a cCR after radiochemotherapy and did not undergo subsequent surgery. Oncological outcome in this study was excellent with only two patients developing locoregional recurrences which both could be successfully salvaged by resection or brachytherapy. Overall survival in patients who had achieved a clinical complete response was 100% after five years. By definition in this study patients were only considered as clinical complete responders if a clinical complete response was sustained for a minimum of 12 months, which made this patient cohort a highly selected subgroup [11]. However, Habr-Gama and colleagues published updated analyses with additional patients, longer follow-up and more detailed recurrence patterns in 2006 and 2014 suggesting the safety of the organ-preservation approach. In the report published in 2006, 122 out of 361 patients (34%) had an "initial cCR" at 8 weeks after completion of radiochemotherapy. Of these 122 patients, 23 developed local regrowths within the first 12 months and were excluded from further analysis after undergoing immediate surgery. The remaining 99 patients met the definition for a "sustained cCR". After a median follow-up of 59.7 months only 5 of these 99 patients developed isolated local recurrences that were all successfully salvaged by either radical surgery, local excision or brachytherapy. A total of 7 distant and one combined recurrence (local and distant) yielded a promising five-year overall and disease-free survival of 92.7% and 85.0% respectively [12].

In 2011 the first prospective study on organ preservation in rectal cancer was published by Maas et al. In contrast to previous reports

strict criteria for a clinical complete response were defined. At restaging 6–8 weeks after 5-Flourouracil (5-FU) based radiochemotherapy it was required that no residual tumour was visible on MRI with diffusion weighted imaging (DWI) and the only endoscopic finding that was compatible with a cCR was a "small residual erythematous ulcer or scar". With these very strict criteria only one of 21 patients who had qualified for non-operative management developed an isolated local regrowth that could successfully be salvaged with secondary surgery. The cumulative probability for disease free survival (DFS) after a median follow-up of 23 months was 93%. Compared with patients who had not achieved a cCR and underwent surgery, scores for bowel functioning were significantly higher indicating less toxicity. However, at the same the very careful selection process based on endoscopic and MRI findings resulted in a cCR rate of only 10.9% and 75% of the pathological complete responses after surgery were missed on restaging after radiochemotherapy [8]. Based on the low sensitivity to predict a pCR with the very strict definition of a clinical complete response, the group defined criteria for a "near-complete response" that should qualify more patients for an organ-preservation approach. Indeed, out of the total 100 patients reported in an updated publication of the study group as many as 39 patients had qualified for organ preservation after having a "near-complete response" on initial evaluation after radiotherapy. Interestingly, 24 of these 39 patients met criteria for "complete response" on re-evaluation three months after the first evaluation [13].

Challenge I: how low can we put the threshold?

Applying a lower threshold to define a patient as a clinical complete responder will inevitably result in a higher rate of local regrowth. After introducing the "near clinical response" in the Dutch study 15 of 100 patients developed local regrowth (12 luminal, 3 nodal), while with the more conservative definition of a cCR in the earlier report only 1 of 21 patients had failed locally. A close follow-up protocol allowed the early detection and successful salvage of all isolated local recurrences except one.

Similar data has been reported by Appelt et al. In this prospective Danish trial 40 of 51 patients (78%) with distal rectal cancer achieved a cCR. The dose-escalated radiotherapy regimen consisted of 60 Gy in 30 fractions with concomitant oral tegafur-uracil and an additional 5 Gy boost delivered by brachytherapy. The definition of a cCR was exclusively based on endoscopic findings plus negative biopsies from the former tumour site. MRIs were performed however had no role in the reevaluation of the primary tumour. With this strategy 25.9% of patients classified as clinical complete responders developed local recurrences with 100% of these being resected with clear margins [14].

Renehan et al. report on 129 patients with a cCR after radiochemotherapy and non-operative management. Again the definition of a cCR was mainly driven by findings at endoscopy or digital rectal exam and the role of imaging studies was solely the evaluation of the mesorectal space and pelvis. In this study the actuarial local regrowth rate was 38% after three years. Salvage treatment was performed in 36 of 41 patients with isolated local recurrences. Three of the five patients without salvage surgery were not considered fit enough for major surgery. It is not clear whether these patients were initially considered to be suitable for surgery at all. The remaining two of five patients without salvage treatment refused salvage surgery. In a propensity-score matched analysis based on pretherapeutic parameters, patients treated with a non-operative approach had superior outcome in terms of disease-free survival, overall survival and colostomy-free survival [15].

The existing data suggests that a rather low threshold for the definition of a clinical complete response may be justified, how-

ever this will happen at the price of higher local regrowths and patients need to be informed about the absolute necessity of follow-up investigations in short intervals.

Challenge II: strategies to maximize the pathological complete response rate

Prolonging the interval between radiochemotherapy and response assessment

The most commonly used time interval between completion of preoperative CRT and surgical resection has traditionally been 4-6 weeks. For many years the Lyon R90-01 study was the only randomized trial in which patients with locally advanced rectal cancer treated with preoperative RT (39 Gy in fractions of 3 Gy) were randomly assigned to have surgery at two different time intervals following radiotherapy: after 2 weeks or after 6-8 weeks. The longer interval resulted in a higher response rate compared to the 2-week interval (pathologic downstaging 10.3% vs. 26%, p = 0.005) and a trend towards a higher pCR rate (7% vs. 14%, p = 0.166) [16]. Several retrospective series have addressed longer interval as a predictor of tumour response, surgical morbidity, and long-term outcome. In a series of 132 patients with locally advanced rectal cancer, Tulchinsky et al. found that patients operated more than 7 weeks after CRT had similar rates of perioperative complications as compared to patients operated on less than 7 weeks after CRT, however, the longer CRT-to-surgery interval was associated with significantly improved pCR rates (35% vs. 17%, p = 0.03) and significantly higher disease-free survival [17]. These results were confirmed by Kalady et al. who found a 31% pCR rate in patients receiving surgery more than 8 weeks after CRT compared to 16% in patients operated on within 8 weeks of CRT [18]. In an attempt to prospectively validate this very promising data the GRECCAR-6 trial randomly assigned 265 patients to surgery after either 7 or 11 weeks from the end of preoperative radiochemotherapy. The study was designed to detect an increase of the pCR rate from 12% to 26%. However, the study failed to show an impact of a longer waiting period on the pCR rate. The pCR rate was 15% in the 7-week arm and 17.4% in the 11-week arm. To some extent this unexpected result might be caused by the higher number of protocol violations in the 7-week arm as 20.8% of the patients in the 7-week arm underwent surgery later than planned compared with 8.6% in the 11-week arm [19]. Yet a meta-analysis and registry studies published after the launch of GRECCAR-6 suggest a less relevant role of the interval between the end of radiochemotherapy and surgery below 10% [20,21]. Based on these published studies, the sole prolongation of the interval is unlikely to qualify a relevantly higher number of patients for a non-operative treatment approach of their cancer. On the other hand, this is challenged by early data from a prospective, randomized British trial showing an increase of the pCR rate from 9% to 20% in patients undergoing surgery 6 weeks after the end of radiotherapy compared to patients with surgery after 12 weeks [22]. Final and more detailed results from this trial might lead to a re-appraisal of this approach.

One of the concerns associated with postponing surgery beyond 6–8 weeks is that patients who have only poorly responded to treatment remain untreated in the interval and may progress. A strategy to circumvent this issue is to "fill" the waiting period with systemic treatment. Gao et al. report a prospective trial in which 51 patients with locally advanced rectal cancer received a neoadjuvant "sandwich treatment" consisting of one cycle of induction CAPOX prior to radiochemotherapy with 2 concomitant cycles of CAPOX and one cycle of CAPOX between the end of radiochemotherapy and surgery which took place 6 to 8 weeks after the last fraction of radiotherapy. The authors reported an

impressive 42.2% pCR rate with an acceptable toxicity profile [23]. Similarly "The Timing of Rectal Cancer Response to Chemoradiation Consortium" in the United States designed a prospective phase II trial of preoperative CRT (50.4–54 Gy with 225 mg/ m²/day continuous infusion 5-FU during RT) with additional cycles of chemotherapy (modified FOLFOX6) during the waiting period before surgery. Patients were treated in 4 different groups: the first group of patients underwent surgery 6-8 weeks after the completion of radiochemotherapy (group 1) while patients in groups 2-4 received additional 2, 4 or 6 cycles of mFOLFOX6 before undergoing surgery. The pCR rate increased continuously from 18% in group 1 to 25%, 30% and 38% in groups 2, 3 and 4, respectively. Surgeons noted an increase in pelvic fibrosis with a prolonged interval however this did not translate into a higher surgical difficulty [24]. While the advantage of this approach of consolidative chemotherapy and delayed surgery with regards to tumour downstaging is obvious, the increased degree of fibrosis at the time of surgery is a caveat. In the GRECCAR-6 trial patients in the delayed surgery group had a significantly lower rate of optimal mesorectal resection (90% in the 7 week group vs, 78.7% after 11 weeks, p = 0.016). Unfortunately, the quality of the mesorectal resection is not reported in the TIMING trial. Taken altogether, the approach to prolong the interval between the end of radiotherapy and surgery and filling the interval with additional chemotherapy seems highly promising and has the potential to increase the proportion of patients who may safely omit radical surgery. This concept is currently tested in two randomised trials (NCT02008656, NCT02363374).

Beyond 5-FU: alternative chemotherapy regimens

Based on the positive results from colon cancer adjuvant treatment studies [25], there was a great interest to test the efficacy of oxaliplatin in the setting of preoperative radiochemotherapy. The German CAO/ARO/AIO-04 study has been positive both in terms of increased pCR rates and 3-year disease free survival with the use of oxaliplatin both concomitantly with preoperative 5-FUbased radiotherapy and postoperatively. The addition of oxaliplatin with the doses and intensities applied in the CAO/ARO/AIO 04 was well tolerated and associated with high compliance [26]. Metaanalyses indicated that oxaliplatin added to preoperative radiochemotherapy may indeed increase pCR rates and diseasefree survival in selected patients, but also enhances acute toxicity [27,28]. However, given the contradictory results and lack of a clear long-term oncological benefit in the 7 randomized trials testing this combination so far, oxaliplatin as a radiosensitizer is not currently recommended to be routinely added to 5-FU-based preoperative radiochemotherapy [26,29–36].

While 5-FU based chemotherapy is the backbone of concomitant radiochemotherapy several other agents have been tested in addition to 5-FU in order to improve both early endpoints such a pathologic response rates and as well long-term outcomes. In particular molecularly targeted agents have been extensively studied [37]. While most of the agents, particularly the EGFR inhibitors, had failed to show a relevant impact on response and survival endpoints, there have been concerns about increased postoperative morbidities with others, particularly the VEGF-inhibitors [38–41].

Heating the tumour – hyperthermia for rectal cancer

Another strategy to enhance the local effects of radiochemotherapy is deep regional hyperthermia. A meta-analysis of 5 prospective phase II or phase III studies by the Cochrane Collaboration showed a significant increase in pathological complete response rates for combined radiotherapy with deep regional hyperthermia compared with radiotherapy alone [42]. Regarding trimodal neoadjuvant treatment with radiochemotherapy and hyperthermia interim data from a prospective phase III study showed partial and complete responses in 66% of patients treated with additional hyperthermia compared with 49% of patients treated with radiochemotherapy only [43]. Furthermore, Schroeder et al. report a pCR rate of 16.4% in patients treated with preoperative 5-FU based radiochemotherapy and deep regional hyperthermia. On subset analysis this number increased to 22.5% when only patients with at least four hyperthermia treatments were included [44]. Further long-term follow-up in these patients was promising compared with patients who had been treated with radiochemotherapy only [45]. Maluta et al. achieved a pCR rate of 23.6% with an oxaliplatin-based high dose radiochemotherapy regimen plus deep regional hyperthermia [46]. Two prospective trials aiming to reproduce this retrospective data are currently ongoing [47,48].

Dose escalation

It is intuitive to consider dose escalation an appropriate intervention to improve clinical and pathological complete response rates. Indeed, Appelt et al. showed a clear dose-response correlation by pooled analysis of data from two prospective trials with different degrees of dose escalation [49]. In a subsequent prospective organ preservation trial in patients with early low lying rectal cancer (cT2-3, cN0-1) the same group tested a dose escalated radiochemotherapy protocol with 60 Gy in 30 fractions and a subsequent 5 Gy brachytherapy boost and found a cCR of 71%. This number is highly impressive despite the fact that 35% patients had stage I and presumably smaller tumours [14]. Smaller tumour size has previously been shown to be correlated with higher complete response rates [49]. In a meta-analysis of 14 studies reporting pathological and toxicity data after dose escalated radiotherapy the pooled pCR rate was 18.1% when an EQD2 \geq 60 Gy was applied [50]. While there is little doubt that dose escalation will lead to higher rates of complete response rates, some questions and concerns remain: There is only limited data on rectal function and quality of life, particularly in terms of fecal incontinence after dose escalated radiotherapy without subsequent surgery. In the previously mentioned Danish trial 7% of patients suffered from grade III° rectal bleedings one year after the end of radiotherapy. Furthermore, significant inter- and intrafraction variability of the rectum has been described and the required margins to ensure sufficient boost volume coverage result in relevant rectal volumes that have be irradiated [51,52]. While a simultaneous integrated boost approach has been shown to result in higher conformality and normal tissue sparing in other entities [53], this strategy is currently difficult to realize in rectal cancer due to the poor visualization of the primary tumour with cone-beam imaging. Recent technical developments with novel MRI and LINAC hybrid devices may allow precise boost placements with acceptable margins in the future [54]. All available imaging modalities have shown limited accuracy for predicting nodal status [55] but a pathological complete remission of the primary tumour has been shown to be a good predictor for sterilization of mesorectal lymph nodes [8]. Yet it is unknown if this correlation will remain when dose escalation of the primary tumour will result in more complete remission of the primary tumour.

Challenge III: prediction of a pathological complete response

Clinical parameters

All available diagnostic tools are limited in their ability to predict a pathological complete response. Based on their extensive experience with organ preservation in rectal cancer, Habr-Gama et al. suggested endoscopic criteria for the definition of a cCR. According to these criteria any deep ulceration, superficial ulcer, palpable nodule or stenosis should prompt surgical resection [56]. Smith et al. validated these criteria in a retrospective study of 238 specimens of which 61 had a pathological complete response of the primary tumour. Using the criteria of Habr-Gama et al. resulted in a sensitivity for the prediction of a ypTO status of only 26% with a specificity of 97%. In particular, the inclusion of a residual ulcer as a criterion not compatible with a cCR dramatically lowered the sensitivity since 40 of 61 patients with a pathological complete response had a residual ulcer. Maas et al. prospectively evaluated a five tier scale for endoscopic reevaluation of patients after preoperative radiochemotherapy. By defining a "white scar with teleangiectasia" and "a nonpalpable ulcer with regular borders and negative biopsy" as findings that could be used to select patients for a non-operative approach, they report a sensitivity of 53% and a positive predictive value of 90%. Another retrospective study using a similar threshold for the definition of a cCR including a "flat whitish or reddish scar ulcer, or a flat active/healing stage ulcer with regular edges" resulted in a comparable sensitivity of 65.2% and a positive predictive value of 78.9% [57].

Imaging

Several groups have investigated the accuracy of MRI with or without diffusion weighted imaging or PET for the prediction of a pathological complete response. In a meta-analysis of 20 studies using MR imaging the sensitivity to predict a ypT0 status was only 19.1%, the specificity was 94.6% [58]. A standardized MRI based tumour regression grading (mrTRG) resembling Dworak's regression scale for pathological downstaging has been investigated by the initiators of the MERCURY studies [59,60]. In their first report, patients with more pronounced mrTRG had significantly improved overall survival and disease-free survival rates compared with patients with poor response as assessed by mrTRG. In a more recent study mrTRG was correlated with the presence of a pCR after preoperative radiochemotherapy. By defining three of the five grades of the mrTRG scale as compatible with a pCR the authors report a sensitivity of 94% for the prediction of a pCR. On the other hand 85% of patients with mrTRG1-3 had residual tumour in the surgical specimen resulting in a specificity of only 25% [61]. The poor accuracy is mainly caused by the limited ability of MRI to distinguish between residual tumour and non-malignant radiotherapy induced findings in the rectal wall. The sensitivity can be increased by incorporating functional MRI sequences. For instance, Joye et al. report a pooled sensitivity of 78% using the post treatment apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC). However, the positive predictive value is poor with 46%. In terms of an organpreservation study this would mean, that more than half of patients classified as complete responders by functional MRI potentially harbour residual tumour cells which is not acceptable. Data on restaging with PET-CT after preoperative radiochemotherapy has been disappointing with a pooled accuracy in a metaanalysis of only 65% [62]. Van Stiphout et al. developed a predictive model for pCR prediction based on clinical parameters and sequential PET-CT scans before and during treatment. While for a distinct subgroup with a high probability for a pCR the accuracy was 100% in the training cohort, yet it decreased to 67% in the validation cohort [63]. In summary, currently neither PET-CT nor MRI provide sufficient sensitivity with an acceptable positive predictive value for the prediction of a pCR.

Novel diagnostic tools to be further investigated

Radiomics

There is a growing interest in extracting more data from imaging studies than the sole visualization of patient and tumour anatomy or functional information using diffusion weighted imaging. "Radiomics" is the extraction and quantification of a variety of imaging features like texture, intensity and shape that can then be correlated with different oncological parameters [64]. For instance, Leijenar et al. showed a significantly different overall survival of oropharyngeal cancer patients depending on a radiomics signature [65]. There is limited but promising data for radiomics as a tool for pCR prediction in rectal cancer. By extracting "kurtosis" as a single texture feature in T2 weighted MRI sequences of 12 rectal cancer patients, De Cecco et al. reported a sensitivity and specificity of 100% and 67% for the prediction of a pCR [66]. Ke Nie and colleagues applied artificial neuronal networks to create a prediction set of radiomics features from both anatomical and functional MRI studies of 48 rectal cancer patients. The predictive performance was measured as the area under the curve (AUC) of a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve. The AUC for pCR prediction was 0.84 and for the prediction of a good response of 0.89 [67]. Further studies of radiomics as predictive tool for rectal cancer with larger dataset are ongoing.

Molecular biomarkers and assessment of intrinsic radiosensitivity

A major limitation in the curative management of rectal cancer is represented by the lack of available biomarkers for clinical use. An extensive literature review on 1204 articles identified thymidylate synthase (TS) and EGFR as the most promising putative single biomarkers in locally advanced rectal cancer (LARC) [68]. A multicenter retrospective analysis showed a possible detrimental impact of EGFR positivity on attaining a pCR [69]. A prospective phase 2 study failed to demonstrate a relapse-free survival difference between two prespecified good and poor risk groups based on the thymidylate synthase gene polymorphisms in the context of neoadjuvant treatment [70]. Interestingly, a single center experience on 116 patients correlated high expression of survivin (an apoptosisinhibitor) after neoadjuvant treatment with radioresistance and poor prognosis [71]. Extrapolating from the metastastic setting, inconclusive results are available regarding the translational implication of k-nRAS/BRAF status in locally advanced rectal cancer, thus restraining from their routine clinical implementation. Recently, a retrospective study on 229 patients showed that the presence of kras mutation before neoadiuvant treatment was independently correlated with worse pCR at multivariate analysis (OR 0.34: 95% CI 0.17-0.66, p < 0.01) after adjusting for clinical variables [72]. Taking all data together, definitive evidence on the biological heterogeneity and treatment resistance mechanisms of rectal cancer is critically missing. The absence of molecular predictors for pCR is relevant in the context of organ preservation approaches. The possibility to evaluate the intrinsic radiation sensitivity of individual rectal cancer patients represents a major goal in the scope of personalized treatment. In recent years, the gH2AX assay has been recognized as a very sensitive method to detect radiation-induced cell damage [73]. From a molecular perspective, it is well known that the phosphorylation of variant X of histone H2A (H2AX) is one of the earliest cellular events that occur in the process of DNA damage response (DDR) marking the chromatin region where DNA double strand breaks (DSB's) have been induced. It has been further demonstrated that there is a direct correlation between the number of gH2AX clusters and DNA DSB's [74]. If the cellular DNA repair machinery is successfully set in place, the clusters ("foci") of H2AX molecules are rapidly dephosporylated [75–78]. Several groups showed that the number of residual gH2AX foci after 24 h of irradiation or the rate of dephosporylation represent sensitive predictors of cell survival after radiotherapy [79,80]. By developing an innovative method of exvivo irradiation of fresh tumour tissue, Menegakis et al. applied the gH2AX assay on patient-derived material highlighting its potential to be used as a surrogate marker of intrinsic radiosensitivity in clinical practice [81]: in particular, in a heterogeneous population of 25 patients with different tumour types, expected differences of radio-responsiveness were reflected by the number of residual foci. In the 3 colorectal cancer patients included in the study, the individual slope values of the dose–response curve suggested an intermediate level of radiosensitivity. In view of the lack of predictive biomarkers for a pCR in rectal cancer, a prospective clinical assessment of gH2AX assay in this scenario would be noteworthy. The validation of its translational relevance on an individual-patient basis should be warranted in future trials of organ preservation.

"Liquid biopsy"

Recent improvements in genetic testing include cost-efficient, high-throughput sequencing techniques that allow individual analysis of tumour-specific genetic profiles and 'fingerprints'. Personalized treatment approaches might be supported by the definition of risk groups based on genetic alterations. It is anticipated that future clinical trials will identify new genetic biomarkers that will not only predict tumour responses to radiation therapy but also severity of side effects. These biomarkers will potentially help to avoid over- or undertreatment of patients. Based on these developments, liquid biopsies are a relatively new concept in oncology. Tumour desoxyribonucleic acids (DNA) can be detected in circulating tumour cells (CTCs) and cell-free tumour DNA (ctDNA). Liquid biopsies are minimally invasive blood-derived biomarkers and appear a very promising tool in precision medicine to potentially monitor cancer dynamics 'real-time', and correlate therapy response and mutation profiles accordingly [82,83]. In the context of radiotherapy and rectal cancer, data is sparse. Agostini et al. observed a difference between levels of the cell free DNA (cfDNA) integrity index after radiochemotherapy in patients achieving good tumour regression after preoperative radiochemotherapy compared with patients with poor response [84]. Levels of ctDNA determined by the detection of tumour specific rearrangement were correlated with the clinical course of four patients with locally advanced rectal cancer by Carpinetti et al. [85]. In one of the reported cases, the rise of ctDNA preceded the diagnosis of disease recurrence earlier than imaging studies or the carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA), and thus appears potentially useful in particular for the early prediction of recurrences. ctDNA could not be detected during follow-up of patients who remained disease free. If the above mentioned results can be confirmed in a larger population ctDNA might be a useful and minimally invasive tool for response prediction and follow-up in organ-preservation trials.

Challenge IV: safety

The ultimate test to prove the non-inferiority of a novel treatment compared the current standard of care is a randomized trial. However, it is unlikely that for non-operative management of rectal cancer such a randomized trial would recruit successfully. A high non-compliance rate and protocol violations have to be expected since a considerable number of patients with a cCR might not give consent for major surgery. We therefore require well designed prospective trials with sharp inclusion and restaging criteria that address the challenges mentioned before. Furthermore, a very close follow-up of patients managed non-operatively is warranted. Most studies so far have used three- or four-monthly imaging studies and endoscopic examinations for the first two years to ensure timely diagnosis of local regrowth. Considering the excellent salvage rates in these studies this follow-up regimen appears appropriate. There have been concerns that individual patients might be disadvantaged by the omission of surgery after being diagnosed with a complete clinical response. First, patients with initially resectable tumours might develop irresectable regrowth or lesions that require abdominoperineal resection while deep anterior resection would have been sufficient initially. The second concern is the development of local failures leading to de-novo distant metastases that do no longer allow curative treatment. While patients need to be informed about the experimental character of the non-operative approach the current literature suggests the safety of this approach. In the prospective Dutch organ-preservation trial a total of two of patients developed both local and distant failures [13]. Even if in both cases the recurrences could have been avoided by immediate surgery the potential decrease in oncological safety is small and has to be weighed against the risk for postoperative mortality and the considerable number of patients that can avoid permanent colostomy. Furthermore, a recent propensity-score matched cohort study showed no loss of oncological safety with a wait & see strategy after a clinical complete remission [15].

Summary and perspective

Pioneering data from Brazil and subsequent studies have shown that selected patients with rectal cancer can safely be treated with radiochemotherapy alone. Although substantially longer follow-up and larger numbers of patients are needed to validate the organ preservation approach, the growing number of prospective clinical trials and experiences from large databases, such as the European Registration of Cancer Care (EURECCA) watch & wait database, or the recent Oncological Outcome after Clinical Complete Response in Patients with Rectal Cancer (OnCoRe) project, will provide more information on its safety and efficacy, and help to select appropriate patients. Future studies will have to establish radiochemotherapy regimens that will maximize the number of patients that can be managed non-operatively. In these studies, novel innovative restaging procedures have to be investigated in order to improve the prediction of a pathological complete response and long-term close follow-up with thorough documentation of failure patterns and salvage therapies will have to prove the oncological safety of this approach.

References

- [1] Mendenhall WM, Million RR, Pfaff WW. Patterns of recurrence in adenocarcinoma of the rectum and rectosigmoid treated with surgery alone: implications in treatment planning with adjuvant radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1983;9:977–85.
- [2] Rödel C, Graeven U, Fietkau R, Hohenberger W, Hothorn T, Arnold D, et al. Oxaliplatin added to fluorouracil-based preoperative chemoradiotherapy and postoperative chemotherapy of locally advanced rectal cancer (the German CAO/ARO/AIO-04 study): final results of the multicentre, open-label, randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:979–89.
- [3] Heald RJ. The 'Holy Plane' of rectal surgery. J R Soc Med 1988;81:503-8.
- [4] Palmer G, Anderin C, Martling A, Holm T. Local control and survival after extralevator abdominoperineal excision for locally advanced or low rectal cancer. Colorectal Dis 2014;16:527–32.
- [5] Gérard JP, Conroy T, Bonnetain F, Bouché O, Chapet O, Closon-Dejardin MT, et al. Preoperative radiotherapy with or without concurrent fluorouracil and leucovorin in T3-4 rectal cancers: results of FFCD 9203. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:4620-5.
- [6] Sauer R, Becker H, Hohenberger W, Rödel C, Wittekind C, Fietkau R, et al. Preoperative versus postoperative chemoradiotherapy for rectal cancer. New Engl J Med 2004;351:1731–40.
- [7] Coco C, Valentini V, Manno A, Rizzo G, Gambacorta MA, Mattana C, et al. Functional results after radiochemotherapy and total mesorectal excision for rectal cancer. Int J Colorectal Dis 2007;22:903–10.
- [8] Maas M, Beets-Tan RGH, Lambregts DMJ, Lammering G, Nelemans PJ, Engelen SME, et al. Wait-and-see policy for clinical complete responders after chemoradiation for rectal cancer. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:4633–40.
- [9] PROSPECT. PROSPECT: chemotherapy alone or chemotherapy plus radiation therapy in treating patients with locally advanced rectal cancer undergoing surgery (NCT01515787).
- [10] Kreis ME, Ruppert R, Ptok H, Strassburg J, Brosi P, Lewin A, et al. Use of preoperative magnetic resonance imaging to select patients with rectal cancer for neoadjuvant chemoradiation-interim analysis of the German OCUM Trial (NCT01325649). J Gastrointest Surg 2016;20:25–32 [discussion – 3].
- [11] Habr-Gama A, Perez RO, Nadalin W, Sabbaga J, Ribeiro Jr U, Silva e Sousa Jr AH, et al. Operative versus nonoperative treatment for stage 0 distal rectal cancer following chemoradiation therapy: long-term results. Ann Surg 2004;240:711-7 [discussion 7–8].
- [12] Habr-Gama A, Perez RO, Proscurshim I, Campos FG, Nadalin W, Kiss D, et al. Patterns of failure and survival for nonoperative treatment of stage c0 distal rectal cancer following neoadjuvant chemoradiation therapy. J Gastrointest Surg 2006;10:1319–28 [discussion 28–9].
- [13] Martens MH, Maas M, Heijnen LA, Lambregts DM, Leijtens JW, Stassen LP, et al. Long-term outcome of an organ preservation program after neoadjuvant treatment for rectal cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2016;108.

- [14] Appelt AL, Pløen J, Harling H, Jensen FS, Jensen LH, Jørgensen JCR, et al. Highdose chemoradiotherapy and watchful waiting for distal rectal cancer: a prospective observational study. Lancet Oncol 2015;919–27.
- [15] Renehan AG, Malcomson L, Emsley R, Gollins S, Maw A, Myint AS, et al. Watchand-wait approach versus surgical resection after chemoradiotherapy for patients with rectal cancer (the OnCoRe project): a propensity-score matched cohort analysis. Lancet Oncol 2015;2045:1–10.
- [16] Francois Y, Nemoz CJ, Baulieux J, Vignal J, Grandjean J-P, Partensky C, et al. Influence of the interval between preoperative radiation therapy and surgery on downstaging and on the rate of sphincter-sparing surgery for rectal cancer: the Lyon R90–01 randomized trial. J Clin Oncol 1999;17:2396.
- [17] Tulchinsky H, Shmueli E, Figer A, Klausner JM, Rabau M. An interval >7 weeks between neoadjuvant therapy and surgery improves pathologic complete response and disease-free survival in patients with locally advanced rectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 2008;15:2661–7.
- [18] Kalady MF, de Campos-Lobato LF, Stocchi L, Geisler DP, Dietz D, Lavery IC, et al. Predictive factors of pathologic complete response after neoadjuvant chemoradiation for rectal cancer. Ann Surg 2009;250:582–9.
- [19] Lefevre JH, Mineur L, Kotti S, Rullier E, Rouanet P, de Chaisemartin C, et al. Effect of interval (7 or 11 weeks) between neoadjuvant radiochemotherapy and surgery on complete pathologic response in rectal cancer: a multicenter, randomized, controlled trial (GRECCAR-6). J Clin Oncol 2016;34.
- [20] Sloothaak DAM, Geijsen DE, van Leersum NJ, Punt CJA, Buskens CJ, Bemelman WA, et al. Optimal time interval between neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy and surgery for rectal cancer. Br J Surg 2013;100:933–9.
- [21] Petrelli F, Sgroi G, Sarti E, Barni S. Increasing the interval between neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy and surgery in rectal cancer: A meta-analysis of published studies. Ann Surg 2016;263:458–64.
- [22] Evans J, Bhoday J, Sizer B, Tekkis P, Swift R, Perez R, et al. Results of a prospective randomised control 6 vs 12 trial: is greater tumour downstaging observed on post treatment MRI if surgery is delayed to 12-weeks versus 6weeks after completion of neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy? Ann Oncol 2016;27(suppl 6):vi149.
- [23] Gao Y-H, Lin J-Z, An X, Luo J-L, Cai M-Y, Cai P-Q, et al. Neoadjuvant sandwich treatment with oxaliplatin and capecitabine administered prior to, concurrently with, and following radiation therapy in locally advanced rectal cancer: a prospective phase 2 trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2014;90:1153–60.
- [24] Garcia-Aguilar J, Chow OS, Smith DD, Marcet JE, Cataldo PA, Varma MG, et al. Effect of adding mFOLFOX6 after neoadjuvant chemoradiation in locally advanced rectal cancer: a multicentre, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:957–66.
- [25] Yothers G, O'Connell MJ, Allegra CJ, Kuebler JP, Colangelo LH, Petrelli NJ, et al. Oxaliplatin as adjuvant therapy for colon cancer: updated results of NSABP C-07 trial, including survival and subset analyses. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:3768-74.
- [26] Rodel C, Graeven U, Fietkau R, Hohenberger W, Hothorn T, Arnold D, et al. Oxaliplatin added to fluorouracil-based preoperative chemoradiotherapy and postoperative chemotherapy of locally advanced rectal cancer (the German CAO/ARO/AIO-04 study): final results of the multicentre, open-label, randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2015;16:979–89.
- [27] An X, Lin X, Wang FH, Goodman K, Cai PQ, Kong LH, et al. Short term results of neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy with fluoropyrimidine alone or in combination with oxaliplatin in locally advanced rectal cancer: a meta analysis. Eur J Cancer 2013;49:843–51.
- [28] Yang YJ, Cao L, Li ZW, Zhao L, Wu HF, Yue D, et al. Fluorouracil-based neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy with or without oxaliplatin for treatment of locally advanced rectal cancer: an updated systematic review and metaanalysis. Oncotarget 2016;7:45513–24.
- [29] O'Connell MJ, Colangelo LH, Beart RW, Petrelli NJ, Allegra CJ, Sharif S, et al. Capecitabine and oxaliplatin in the preoperative multimodality treatment of rectal cancer: surgical end points from National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project trial R-04. J Clin Oncol 2014;32:1927–34.
- [30] Allegra CJ, Yothers G, O'Connell MJ, Beart RW, Wozniak TF, Pitot HC, et al. Neoadjuvant 5-FU or capecitabine plus radiation with or without oxaliplatin in rectal cancer patients: a phase III randomized clinical trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 2015;107.
- [31] Aschele C, Cionini L, Lonardi S, Pinto C, Cordio S, Rosati G, et al. Primary tumor response to preoperative chemoradiation with or without oxaliplatin in locally advanced rectal cancer: pathologic results of the STAR-01 randomized phase III trial. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:2773–80.
- [32] Aschele C, Lonardi S, Cionini L, Pinto C, Cordio S, Rosati G, et al. Final results of STAR-01: a randomized phase III trial comparing preoperative chemoradiation with or without oxaliplatin in locally advanced rectal cancer. J Clin Oncol 2016;34 (suppl; abstr 3521).
- [33] Deng Y, Chi P, Lan P, Wang L, Chen W, Cui L, et al. Modified FOLFOX6 with or without radiation versus fluorouracil and leucovorin with radiation in neoadjuvant treatment of locally advanced rectal cancer: initial results of the Chinese FOWARC multicenter, open-label, randomized three-arm phase III trial. J Clin Oncol 2016;34:3300–7.
- [34] Jiao D, Zhang R, Gong Z, Liu F, Chen Y, Yu Q, et al. Fluorouracilbased preoperative chemoradiotherapy with or without oxaliplatin for stage II/III rectal cancer: a 3-year follow-up study. Chin J Cancer Res 2015;27: 588–96.
- [35] Francois E, Gourgou-Bourgade S, Azria D, Conroy T, Bouche O, Doyen J, et al. ACCORD12/0405-Prodige 2 phase III trial neoadjuvant treatment in rectal cancer: results after 5 years of follow-up. J Clin Oncol 2016;34 [suppl 4S; abstr 490].
- [36] Schmoll HJ, Haustermans K, Price T, Nordlinger B, Hofheinz RD, Daisne JF, et al. PG 6.2 Preoperative chemoradiotherapy and postoperative chemotherapy

with capecitabine and oxaliplatin vs. capecitabine alone in locally advanced rectal cancer: disease free survival results at interim analysis. Eur J Cancer 2014;50:S6.

- [37] Fokas E, Rodel C. Targeted agents in GI radiotherapy: clinical efficacy and side effects. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2016;30:537–49.
- [38] Mohiuddin M, Paulus R, Mitchell E, Hanna N, Yuen A, Nichols R, et al. Neoadjuvant chemoradiation for distal rectal cancer: 5-year updated results of a randomized phase 2 study of neoadjuvant combined modality chemoradiation for distal rectal cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;86:523–8.
- [39] Dewdney A, Cunningham D, Tabernero J, Capdevila J, Glimelius B, Cervantes A, et al. Multicenter randomized phase II clinical trial comparing neoadjuvant oxaliplatin, capecitabine, and preoperative radiotherapy with or without cetuximab followed by total mesorectal excision in patients with high-risk rectal cancer (EXPERT-C). J Clin Oncol 2012;30:1620–7.
- [40] Salazar R, Capdevila J, Laquente B, Manzano JL, Pericay C, Villacampa MM, et al. A randomized phase II study of capecitabine-based chemoradiation with or without bevacizumab in resectable locally advanced rectal cancer: clinical and biological features. BMC Cancer 2015;15:60.
- [41] Crane CH, Eng C, Feig BW, Das P, Skibber JM, Chang GJ, et al. Phase II trial of neoadjuvant bevacizumab, capecitabine, and radiotherapy for locally advanced rectal cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010;76:824–30.
- [42] De Haas-Kock DF, Buijsen J, Pijls-Johannesma M, Lutgens L, Lammering G, van Mastrigt GA, et al. Concomitant hyperthermia and radiation therapy for treating locally advanced rectal cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2009: CD006269.
- [43] Rau B, Benhidjeb T, Wust P, Schlag PM. Stellenwert der Hyperthermie f
 ür die chirurgische Onkologie. Viszeralchirurgie 2002;37:379–84.
- [44] Schroeder C, Gani C, Lamprecht U, von Weyhern CH, Weinmann M, Bamberg M, et al. Pathological complete response and sphincter-sparing surgery after neoadjuvant radiochemotherapy with regional hyperthermia for locally advanced rectal cancer compared with radiochemotherapy alone. Int J Hyperthermia 2012;28:707–14.
- [45] Gani C, Schroeder C, Heinrich V, Spillner P, Lamprecht U, Berger B, et al. Longterm local control and survival after preoperative radiochemotherapy in combination with deep regional hyperthermia in locally advanced rectal cancer. Int J Hyperthermia 2016;32:187–92.
- [46] Maluta S, Romano M, Dall'oglio S, Genna M, Oliani C, Pioli F, et al. Regional hyperthermia added to intensified preoperative chemo-radiation in locally advanced adenocarcinoma of middle and lower rectum. Int J Hyperthermia 2010;26:108–17.
- [47] HyRec. Neoadjuvant chemoradiation with 5-FU(or capecitabine) and oxaliplatin combined with hyperthermia in rectal cancer (HyRec/NCT01716949).
- [48] HT01. Preoperative radiochemotherapy with hyperthermia for locally advanced rectal cancer (HT01/NCT02353858).
- [49] Appelt AL, Ploen J, Vogelius IR, Bentzen SM, Jakobsen A. Radiation doseresponse model for locally advanced rectal cancer after preoperative chemoradiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;85:74–80.
- [50] Burbach JP, den Harder AM, Intven M, van Vulpen M, Verkooijen HM, Reerink O. Impact of radiotherapy boost on pathological complete response in patients with locally advanced rectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Radiother Oncol 2014;113:1–9.
- [51] Yamashita H, Takenaka R, Sakumi A, Otomo A, Nakagawa K. Analysis of motion of the rectum during preoperative intensity modulated radiation therapy for rectal cancer using cone-beam computed tomography. Radiat Oncol 2015;10:2.
- [52] Roels S, Slagmolen P, Nuyts J, Lee JA, Loeckx D, Maes F, et al. Biological Image-Guided Radiotherapy in Rectal Cancer: Challenges and Pitfalls. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2009;75:782–90.
- [53] Stromberger C, Ghadjar P, Marnitz S, Thieme AH, Jahn U, Raguse JD, et al. Comparative treatment planning study on sequential vs. simultaneous integrated boost in head and neck cancer patients: Differences in dose distributions and potential implications for clinical practice. Strahlenther Onkol 2016;192:17–24.
- [54] Kerkmeijer LG, Fuller CD, Verkooijen HM, Verheij M, Choudhury A, Harrington KJ, et al. The MRI-Linear Accelerator Consortium: evidence-based clinical introduction of an innovation in radiation oncology connecting researchers, methodology, data collection, quality assurance, and technical development. Front Oncol 2016;6:215.
- [55] Joye I, Deroose CM, Vandecaveye V, Haustermans K. The role of diffusionweighted MRI and (18)F-FDG PET/CT in the prediction of pathologic complete response after radiochemotherapy for rectal cancer: a systematic review. Radiother Oncol 2014;113:158–65.
- [56] Habr-Gama A, Perez RO, Wynn G, Marks J, Kessler H, Gama-Rodrigues J. Complete clinical response after neoadjuvant chemoradiation therapy for distal rectal cancer: characterization of clinical and endoscopic findings for standardization. Dis Colon Rectum 2010;53:1692–8.
- [57] Lim SG, Kim YB, Oh SY. Clinical significance of the endoscopic finding in predicting complete tumor response to preoperative chemoradiation therapy in rectal cancer. World J Surgery 2016.
- [58] Van der Paardt MP, Zagers MB, Beets-Tan RG, Stoker J, Bipat S. Patients who undergo preoperative chemoradiotherapy for locally advanced rectal cancer restaged by using diagnostic MR imaging: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Radiology 2013;269:101–12.
- [59] Dworak O, Keilholz L, Hoffmann A. Pathological features of rectal cancer after preoperative radiochemotherapy. Int J Colorectal Dis 1997;12:19–23.
- [60] Patel UB, Taylor F, Blomqvist L, George C, Evans H, Tekkis P, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging-detected tumor response for locally advanced rectal cancer

predicts survival outcomes: MERCURY experience. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:3753–60.

- [61] Bhoday J, Smith F, Siddiqui MR, Balyasnikova S, Swift RI, Perez R, et al. Magnetic resonance tumor regression grade and residual mucosal abnormality as predictors for pathological complete response in rectal cancer postneoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy. Dis Colon Rectum 2016;59:925–33.
- [62] Joye I, Deroose CM, Vandecaveye V, Haustermans K. The role of diffusionweighted MRI and 18 F-FDG PET/CT in the prediction of pathologic complete response after radiochemotherapy for rectal cancer: A systematic review. Radiother Oncol 2014;113:158–65.
- [63] van Stiphout RG, Valentini V, Buijsen J, Lammering G, Meldolesi E, van Soest J, et al. Nomogram predicting response after chemoradiotherapy in rectal cancer using sequential PETCT imaging: a multicentric prospective study with external validation. Radiother Oncol 2014;113:215–22.
- [64] Lambin P, Rios-Velazquez E, Leijenaar R, Carvalho S, van Stiphout RG, Granton P, et al. Radiomics: extracting more information from medical images using advanced feature analysis. Eur J Cancer 2012;48:441–6.
- [65] Leijenaar RT, Carvalho S, Hoebers FJ, Aerts HJ, van Elmpt WJ, Huang SH, et al. External validation of a prognostic CT-based radiomic signature in oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma. Acta Oncol 2015;54:1423–9.
- [66] De Cecco CN, Ciolina M, Caruso D, Rengo M, Ganeshan B, Meinel FG, et al. Performance of diffusion-weighted imaging, perfusion imaging, and texture analysis in predicting tumoral response to neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy in rectal cancer patients studied with 3T MR: initial experience. Abdom Radiol (NY) 2016;41:1728–35.
- [67] Nie K, Shi L, Chen Q, Hu X, Jabbour S, Yue N, et al. Rectal cancer: assessment of neoadjuvant chemo-radiation outcome based on radiomics of multiparametric MRI. Am Assoc Cancer Res 2016. clincanres.2997.015– clincanres.015.
- [68] Kuremsky JG, Tepper JE, McLeod HL. Biomarkers for response to neoadjuvant chemoradiation for rectal cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2009;74:673–88.
- [69] Giralt J, de las Heras M, Cerezo L, Eraso A, Hermosilla E, Velez D, et al. The expression of epidermal growth factor receptor results in a worse prognosis for patients with rectal cancer treated with preoperative radiotherapy: a multicenter, retrospective analysis. Radiother Oncol 2005;74:101–8.
- [70] Tan BR, Thomas F, Myerson RJ, Zehnbauer B, Trinkaus K, Malyapa RS, et al. Thymidylate synthase genotype-directed neoadjuvant chemoradiation for patients with rectal adenocarcinoma. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:875–83.
- [71] Sprenger T, Rodel F, Beissbarth T, Conradi LC, Rothe H, Homayounfar K, et al. Failure of downregulation of survivin following neoadjuvant radiochemotherapy in rectal cancer is associated with distant metastases and shortened survival. Clin Cancer Res 2011;17:1623–31.
- [72] Chow OS, Kuk D, Keskin M, Smith JJ, Camacho N, Pelossof R, et al. KRAS and combined KRAS/TP53 mutations in locally advanced rectal cancer are independently associated with decreased response to neoadjuvant therapy. Ann Surg Oncol 2016;23:2548–55.
- [73] Bonner WM, Redon CE, Dickey JS, Nakamura AJ, Sedelnikova OA, Solier S, et al. GammaH2AX and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2008;8:957–67.
- [74] Sedelnikova OA, Rogakou EP, Panyutin IG, Bonner WM. Quantitative detection of (125)IdU-induced DNA double-strand breaks with gamma-H2AX antibody. Radiat Res 2002;158:486–92.
- [75] Chowdhury D, Keogh MC, Ishii H, Peterson CL, Buratowski S, Lieberman J. Gamma-H2AX dephosphorylation by protein phosphatase 2A facilitates DNA double-strand break repair. Mol Cell 2005;20:801–9.
- [76] Keogh MC, Kim JA, Downey M, Fillingham J, Chowdhury D, Harrison JC, et al. A phosphatase complex that dephosphorylates gammaH2AX regulates DNA damage checkpoint recovery. Nature 2006;439:497–501.
- [77] Downey M, Durocher D. GammaH2AX as a checkpoint maintenance signal. Cell Cycle 2006;5:1376–81.
- [78] Nakada S, Chen GI, Gingras AC, Durocher D. PP4 is a gamma H2AX phosphatase required for recovery from the DNA damage checkpoint. EMBO Rep 2008;9:1019–26.
- [79] Klokov D, MacPhail SM, Banath JP, Byrne JP, Olive PL. Phosphorylated histone H2AX in relation to cell survival in tumor cells and xenografts exposed to single and fractionated doses of X-rays. Radiother Oncol 2006;80:223–9.
- [80] Menegakis A, Yaromina A, Eicheler W, Dorfler A, Beuthien-Baumann B, Thames HD, et al. Prediction of clonogenic cell survival curves based on the number of residual DNA double strand breaks measured by gammaH2AX staining. Int J Radiat Biol 2009;85:1032–41.
- [81] Menegakis A, De Colle C, Yaromina A, Hennenlotter J, Stenzl A, Scharpf M, et al. Residual gammaH2AX foci after ex vivo irradiation of patient samples with known tumour-type specific differences in radio-responsiveness. Radiother Oncol 2015;116:480–5.
- [82] Alix-Panabieres C, Schwarzenbach H, Pantel K. Circulating tumor cells and circulating tumor DNA. Annu Rev Med 2012;63:199–215.
- [83] Schwarzenbach H, Hoon DS, Pantel K. Cell-free nucleic acids as biomarkers in cancer patients. Nat Rev Cancer 2011;11:426–37.
- [84] Agostini M, Pucciarelli S, Enzo MV, Del Bianco P, Briarava M, Bedin C, et al. Circulating cell-free DNA: a promising marker of pathologic tumor response in rectal cancer patients receiving preoperative chemoradiotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol 2011;18:2461–8.
- [85] Carpinetti P, Donnard E, Bettoni F, Asprino P, Koyama F, Rozanski A, et al. The use of personalized biomarkers and liquid biopsies to monitor treatment response and disease recurrence in locally advanced rectal cancer after neoadjuvant chemoradiation. Oncotarget 2015;6:38360–71.